Planning Committee 23 April 2014

IRVINE, 23 April 2014 - At a Meeting of the Planning Committee of North Ayrshire Council at 2.00 p.m.

Present

Matthew Brown, John Ferguson, Robert Barr, John Bell, John Bruce and Joe Cullinane.

In Attendance

J. Miller, Senior Manager (Planning, Transportation and Regeneration) and P. Brennan, Specialist Environmental Health Officer (Noise) (Development and Environment); and A. Craig, Team Manager (Litigation) and D. McCaw, Committee Services Officer (Chief Executive's Service).

Chair

Councillor Brown in the Chair.

Apologies for Absence

Ronnie McNicol, Tom Marshall, Jim Montgomerie and Robert Steel.

1. Declarations of Interest

There were no declarations of interest by Members in terms of Standing Order 16 and Section 5 of the Code of Conduct for Councillors.

2. Minutes

The accuracy of the Minute of the meeting of the Committee held on 19 March 2014 was confirmed and the Minutes signed in accordance with Paragraph 7 (1) of Schedule 7 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973.

3. Garnock Valley

13/00501/PPPM Site to the east of 7-9 Beith Road, Glengarnock, Beith North Coast and Cumbraes

Hallam Land Management, Suite 2-L, Willow House, Kestrel View, Strathclyde Business Park has applied for planning permission in principle for the erection of a residential development on a site to the east of 7-9 Beith Road, Glengarnock, Beith. Three letters of objection and one letter of support have been received, as detailed in the report.

Councillor Bell intimated concerns regarding the access road to the proposed site and potential visibility and safety issues. The Senior Manager (Planning, Transportation and Regeneration) advised that this was an outline application and that the concerns highlighted would be raised with the applicant and the Council's Transportation Officers before submission of the new application for planning permission.

The Committee, having considered the terms of the objections and letter of support, agreed to grant the application, subject to the following conditions:-

- 1. That, prior to the commencement of development on site, a further application(s) for the approval of the matters specified in this condition must be submitted to and approved by North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority. These matters are as follows:-
- (a) the layout of the site, including all roads, footways, shared paths, car parking areas, and open spaces;
- (b) the siting, design and external appearance of all building(s) and any other structures, including plans and elevations showing their dimensions and type and colour of external materials;
- (c) a detailed flood risk assessment, including cross-sections of existing and proposed ground levels, details of under-building and finished floor levels in relation to a fixed datum, preferably ordnance datum, and detailing how flood issues are addressed.
- (d) the means of drainage and surface water strategy and methodology for sewage disposal, including Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS), all set out in a comprehensive Drainage Assessment, including maintenance. Such SUDS shall be self-certified by a suitably qualified person;
- (e) the means of access to the site including an updated Transport Strategy;
- (f) the design and location of all boundary treatments including walls and fences;
- (g) the landscaping and associated maintenance proposals for the site, including details of existing trees, hedgerows and other planting to be retained and tree protection measures together with proposals for new planting specifying number, size and species of all trees and shrubs and a woodland management implementation programme;
- (h) details of the phasing of development (covering all relevant aspects of development detailed in (a) above);
- a design and access statement with the design issues addressed in the formulation of the proposals, set out in line with the relevant supplementary d esign guidance approved by North Ayrshire Council.
- 2. That the application(s) for approval of these further matters must be made to the Council as Planning Authority before whichever is the latest of the following:-

- (a) expiry of 3 years from when permission in principle was granted
- (b) expiry of 6 months from date when an earlier application for approval was refused, an
- (c) expiry of 6 months from date on which an appeal against the refusal was dismissed.

Approval of the further specified matters can be made for -

- (i) different matters, and
- (ii) different parts of the development

at different times.

Only one application for approval of matters specified in conditions can be made after 3 years from the grant of planning permission in principle.

- 3. That the proposed development shall be designed in accordance with the principles of the Scottish Government's "Designing Streets" and Designing Places" policy documents and North Ayrshire Council's Neighbourhood Design Guidance to the satisfaction of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority.
- 4. That, prior to the commencement of the development, hereby approved, the applicant shall submit for the written approval of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority, a Strategy for Open Space which shall include proposals for (i) the provision of open space and play provision, in accordance with the North Ayrshire Council policy "Provision and Maintenance of Landscaping, Open Space and Play Areas in New Housing Developments" together with proposals for the management and maintenance thereof.
- 5. That no development shall take place within the development site as outlined in red on the approved plan until the developer has secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological works in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has been submitted by the applicant in consultation with the West of Scotland Archaeology Service and approved by North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority. Thereafter the developer shall ensure that the programme of archaeological works is fully implemented and that all recording and recovery of archaeological resources within the development site is undertaken to the satisfaction of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority.
- 6. That the further application(s) required under the terms of Condition 1 above shall include submission of a strategic assessment of how new buildings shall reduce their CO2 emissions to a level above or in line with the building standards through appropriately designed: on-site low or zero carbon generating technologies (LZCGTs); and/or passive/operational energy efficiency measures. The specific implementation/detail documentation shall be submitted at the time of submission for Building Warrant, all to the satisfaction of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority.

- 7. That a 3m wide footway/cycleway shall be provided along the frontage of the site and 2m wide footway shall be provided along the frontage of the residential dwellings of 3 to 10 Beith Road to the satisfaction of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority.
- 8. That a minimum carriageway width of between 6 to 7.3m shall be retained along the length of the B777 (Beith Road) fronting the site to the satisfaction of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority.
- 9. That a physical gateway measure in the form of islands and countdown markings shall be installed at the 30mph speed limit to the satisfaction of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority.
- 10. That the existing street lighting shall be upgraded to accommodate the proposed junction arrangements and footways. For the avoidance of doubt, full details and timescales of works shall be submitted for the consideration and approval in writing by North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority prior to the commencement of development.
- 11. That the recommendations within the Phase 1 Habitat Survey submitted in support of the application, shall be implemented to the satisfaction of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority. Details shall be submitted demonstrating of the undertaking and/or programming of these recommendations implementations.
- 12. That, prior to the commencement of the development, hereby approved, the applicant shall undertake a desk study of the application site, (including the review of any previous site investigations) to assess the likelihood of contamination and assist in the design of an appropriate site investigation and subsequent suitable quantitative risk assessment as advocated in BS10175: 2011. Remediation proposals shall also be presented in relation to any significant findings. All documentation shall be verified by a suitably qualified Environmental Consultant and submitted to North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority. Any required remediation measures shall be undertaken, prior to the commencement of the development to the satisfaction of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority. Thereafter the presence of any significant unsuspected contamination, which becomes evident during the development of the site, shall be reported to North Ayrshire Council and treated in accordance with an agreed remediation scheme.

On completion of the proposed works written verification, detailing what was done by way of any remediation, shall also be submitted to the North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority.

4. Irvine/Kilwinning

4.1 13/00667/PPM Site to north east of The Grange, Perceton, Irvine

Dawn Homes Ltd, 220 West George Street, Glasgow have applied for planning permission for the erection of 172 dwellings with associated roads and landscaping on a site to north east of The Grange, Perceton, Irvine. Four letters of objection/representation have been received, as detailed in the report.

The Committee, having considered the terms of the objections/representations, agreed to grant the application, subject to (a) the applicants entering into a Section 75 obligation to secure an appropriate affordable housing contribution at a rate of 15%; and (b) the following conditions:-

- 1. That, prior to the commencement of the development, details of phasing shall be submitted for the written approval of North Ayrshire Council, which shall incorporate phasing details for off-site infrastructure works, SUDS, play area, tree planting and open space provision. Thereafter, the development shall be implemented only in accordance with such phasing as may be agreed with North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority, unless otherwise agreed in writing.
- 2. That, prior to the commencement of the development, the developer shall submit for the written approval of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority a schedule of the proposed external finishes to be used in the development. The schedule shall also include details of surface finishes for roads and footpaths. Thereafter, the development shall be implemented only in accordance with such details as may be approved, unless otherwise agreed in writing, all to the satisfaction of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority.
- 3. That no development shall take place until there has been submitted to and approved by North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority a scheme of landscaping, which shall include details of species, planting densities, soil treatment and aftercare and shall include indications of all existing trees and hedgerows on the land and details of any to be retained together with measures for their protection in the course of the development.
- 4. That all planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting season and seeding seasons following the occupation of the buildings or the completion of the development, whichever is the sooner; and any trees or plants which, within a period of five years from the completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of a similar size and species, unless North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.

- 5. That, prior to the commencement of the development, comprehensive details of all site levels, including existing ground levels, proposed ground levels and finished floor levels, shall be submitted for the written approval of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority.
- 6. That, prior to the commencement of the development, details of all boundary treatments to be formed shall be submitted for the written approval of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority. Thereafter, all boundary fences and walls as may be approved relating to or adjacent to each plot shall be erected prior to the occupation of the dwelling within that plot. All other boundary treatments shall be erected prior to the completion of each phase within the development, all to the satisfaction of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority.
- 7. That no development shall take place within the development site as outlined in red on the approved plan until the developer has secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological works in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has been submitted by the applicant, agreed by the West of Scotland Archaeology Service, and approved by the Planning Authority. Thereafter, the developer shall ensure that the programme of archaeological works is fully implemented and that all recording and recovery of archaeological resources within the development site is undertaken to the satisfaction of the Planning Authority in agreement with the West of Scotland Archaeology Service.
- 8. That the off-site footways and road alterations shall be undertaken to the satisfaction of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority prior to the completion of the first phase of the development.
- 9. That, prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, details of bus stops on either side of the Old Stewarton Road at positions to be agreed in consultation with SPT, shall be submitted for the written approval of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority. Thereafter, the bus stops shall be provided to the satisfaction of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority prior to the completion of the first phase of the development.
- 10. That, prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, details of the children's equipped play area and associated open space shall be submitted for the written approval of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority. Thereafter, the play area shall be provided in accordance with the phasing details as may be approved under the terms of Condition 1 to the satisfaction of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority.

- 11. That, prior to the occupation of any of the dwellinghouses and where Council adoption of open space areas is not to be pursued, there shall be submitted for approval of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority, details of the proposed factor or management agency and a landscape management plan, including long term design objectives, management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for all open space areas. The landscape management plan shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details unless the prior written approval of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority is obtained for any variation, and the agreed agency shall only be changed with the agreement of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority.
- 12. That, prior to the commencement of the development, hereby approved, confirmation shall be submitted in writing to North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority and certified by a suitably qualified person that a scheme to treat the surface water arising from the site has been prepared in accordance with the principles and practices contained in CIRIA's "Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems Manual", published in March 2007. Thereafter, the certified scheme shall be implemented prior to the completion of the development and maintained thereafter to the satisfaction of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority.
- 13. That all paths within the development shall be constructed to provide for all abilities access and multi user access (ie. by walkers and cyclists) to the satisfaction of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority.

4.2 13/00038/PPPM West Byrehill Industrial Estate, Byrehill Place, Kilwinning

Ashtenne Industrial Fund LP, 80 St Vincent Street, Floor 6, Glasgow has applied for planning permission in principle for the demolition of an industrial building and the erection of a residential development with associated accesses, engineering operations, open space and landscaping, and a neighbourhood centre (Classes 1, 2 & 3) at West Byrehill Industrial Estate, Byrehill Place, Kilwinning.

The Committee agreed to continue consideration of this application to the next meeting.

5. North Coast and Cumbraes

14/00164/PP Hunterston Construction Yard. Fairlie

SSE Renewables Developments (UK) Ltd, 1 Waterloo Street, Glasgow has applied for permission for the variation of planning permission N/11/00679/PPM under Section 42 of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 to revise the wording of Condition 7 to enable assessment of compliance with noise limits, Condition 9 to revise timescale for dealing with complaints about noise nuisance and Condition 10 to implement measures to reduce excessive noise levels to acceptable limits, at Hunterston Construction Yard, Fairlie. Two objections and one representation have been received, as detailed in the report.

The Senior Manager (Planning, Transportation and Regeneration) advised that the representee had since indicated his satisfaction with the proposed amendments contained within the report and circulated a consultation response from Fairlie Community Council and a copy of the Officer's responses to the points raised therein.

The Committee, having considered the terms of the objections and representation, and having received advice from the Specialist Environment Health Officer in connection with the variation of condition 7, agreed to amend Conditions 7, 9 and 10 and revise the schedule of conditions, as follows:-

- 1. That the site shall be used as a facility for the testing of a maximum of 3 off-shore wind turbines at any given time for a period of 5 years from the date of operation of the first turbine, prior notification of which commencement date of operation of the first turbine shall be submitted in writing to North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority; at the expiry of the 5 year period or 14 October, 2017 whichever is the earlier, the wind turbines and associated infrastructure shall be removed and the land restored to its former condition within 6 months, in accordance with a Decommissioning Method Statement to be agreed in writing with North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the development. If planning permission for the proposed multi-fuel power station at Hunterston is granted, the wind turbine test facility shall not be operational at the same time as the testing or operational phases of the multi-fuel power station.
- 2. That, prior to the commencement of the development, the applicants shall submit for the written approval of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority exact details of the siting, design and finishes to all ancillary buildings, temporary buildings and structures and prior to the erection of each wind turbine the applicants shall submit for the written approval of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority exact details of the siting, design and finish of the wind turbine.
- 3. That, unless North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation, all turbine components shall be transported to and removed from the site by sea by way of the existing jetty at the Marine Construction Yard, to the satisfaction of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority.
- 4. That, prior to the commencement of the development, the applicant shall submit for the written approval of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority a Transport Management Plan which shall include matters such as identification of the routes for delivery of construction materials to the site and times of day when the deliveries can be made; the Traffic Management Plan shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details to the satisfaction of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority.

- 5. That, prior to the commencement of the development, the applicant shall submit for the written approval of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority a Construction Method Statement which shall detail measures to be put in place to avoid any materials or contaminants being released into Portencross SSSI and which shall examine specific aspects of the proposals, e.g., piling for turbine base foundations, storage of fuel which may pose higher pollution risks, general on site procedures for dealing with accidental pollution incidents; the agreed Construction Method Statement shall be provided at least two months prior to work commencing on site and the measures contained in the approved Construction Method Statement shall be implemented throughout the duration of the construction and operation of the site, to the satisfaction of North Ayrshire Council as planning authority.
- 6. That at the reasonable request of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority or following a valid complaint to the Planning Authority relating to noise immissions, ie. the sound heard by the observer, arising from the operation of the wind turbines, the operator shall employ a suitably qualified acoustic consultant or other competent person to measure the level of noise immission from the wind turbines at the property to which the complaint relates. The measurement and calculation of noise levels shall be undertaken in accordance with pages 102-109 of ETSU-R-97 (ETSU-R-97 the Assessment and Rating of Noise from Wind Farms) including the type, classification and calibration of the measuring equipment, the location of the microphone, the relevant weather conditions and the analysis and presentation of the measured noise data or such other method agreed in writing by the Environmental Health Service of North Ayrshire Council. Where the operation of the wind turbines, when assessed at any noise sensitive premises is likely to result in audible tones, the noise immission level shall be rated as detailed in ETSU-R-97 pp 104-109, all to the satisfaction of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority.
- 7. That during night hours defined in ETSU-R-97 as 2300 to 0700 on all days, the wind turbine noise immission level at any property lawfully existing or with planning permission at the time of the consent shall not exceed the LA90, 10min levels as detailed in table "11.7: Night Time Noise Limits" of the "Hunterston National Off Shore Wind Turbine Test Facility Volume 1: Environmental Statement" or the measured existing LA90, 10min noise level (to be calculated from data measured from the Background Noise Survey referenced in "Hunterston National Off Shore Wind Turbine Test Facility Volume 1: Environmental Statement") plus 5dB(A), whichever is the greater. In the case of locations not included in table 11.7, the limit for the nearest location listed shall apply, unless otherwise agreed in writing with North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority.

- 8. That, during Quiet Waking Hours, defined in ETSU-R-97 as 1800 to 2300 on all days, plus 1300 to 1800 on Saturdays and 0700 to 1800 on Sundays, the wind turbine noise immission level at any property lawfully existing or with planning permission at the time of this consent shall not exceed the ETSU-R-97 derived daytime noise limit of 35db LA90, 10min or the measured existing LA90, 10min noise level (as detailed in table "11.5: Daytime Operational Noise Limits" of the "Hunterston National Offshore Wind Turbine Test Facility Volume 1: Environmental Statement") plus 5dB (A), whichever is the greater. In the case of locations not included in table 11.5 of the "Hunterston National Offshore Wind Turbine Test Facility Volume 1: Environmental Statement", the limit for the nearest location listed shall apply, unless otherwise agreed in writing with North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority.
- 9. That, in respect of the 24 hour contact number to which complaints about noise nuisance can be made which has been supplied by the applicants, on receipt of any complaint directly made to the applicants, the applicants shall acknowledge receipt of the complaint to the complainant by telephone and shall notify North Ayrshire Council as planning authority both of the complaint and of the acknowledgement, all within 72 hours of receipt of the complaint. On confirmation by North Ayrshire Council as planning authority that a noise complaint, whether received directly by the Council or via the applicants, is valid Condition 6 shall apply. The result of the investigation required under Condition 6 shall be communicated to North Ayrshire Council as planning authority and to the complainant within 30 days of receipt of the complaint.
- 10. That, in the event that the noise levels specified in Table 11.18 and Table 11.19 of the Environmental Statement are shown to be exceeded as a result of Condition 6, the operator or manufacturer(s) of the turbine(s) shall identify and implement such measures as are necessary to reduce the levels to no greater than those specified in Table 11.18 and Table 11.19. Such measures may include temporary cessation of the turbine(s) operation.

- 11. That, within the first four weeks following commissioning of each wind turbine, the operator shall employ a suitably qualified acoustic consultant or other competent person to record and measure the level of noise immission from the wind turbines at a minimum of four locations, to be agreed in writing with North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority prior to the commencement of such monitoring. The locations shall be as close as possible to noise monitoring locations presented in Figure 11.1 of the Environmental Statement. The measurement and calculation of noise levels shall be undertaken in accordance with pages 102 - 109 of ETSU-R-97 (ETSU-R-97 the Assessment & Rating of Noise from Wind Farms) including the type, classification and calibration of the measurement equipment, the location of the microphone, the relevant weather conditions and the analysis and presentation of the measured noise data, or such other method agreed in writing with North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority. Where the operation of the wind turbines, when assessed at any noise sensitive premises, is likely to result in audible tones, the noise immission level shall be rated as detailed in ETSU-R-97 pp 104-109. In the event that the limits set out in conditions 7 and 8 are not met the operator or manufacturer(s) shall identify and implement such measure as are necessary to comply with the limit.
- 12. That the recommendations contained in the document "Hunterston NOWTTF Environmental Statement: Volume III, Technical Appendices, Appendix 9.1 Hydrology and Ground Conditions Desk Study, Item 7 Conclusions and Recommendations" regarding the proposed contaminated land strategy shall be implemented and the subsequent findings submitted for the written approval of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority; contaminated land issues arising from the proposal on nearby natural and farmed shellfish beds shall be included in the scope of the contaminated land strategy, to the satisfaction of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority.
- 13. That the presence of any significant unsuspected contamination that becomes evident during the development of the site shall be brought to the attention of Environmental Health. Thereafter a suitable investigation strategy as agreed with North Ayrshire Council shall be implemented and any necessary remediation works carried out prior to any further development taking place on the site, all to the satisfaction of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority.
- 14. That, except with the prior written agreement of the Environmental Health Service of North Ayrshire Council (e.g. by means of an application under Section 61 of the Control of Pollution Act 1974), construction works likely to give rise to noise audible at the curtilage of any nearby noise sensitive premises shall be carried out only during the following times: Mondays Fridays (excluding public holidays) 0800-1800 hours and Saturdays 0800-1300 hours; plant, machinery and operating methods shall be selected and used in accordance with BS 5228: Noise Control on Construction and Open Sites and the Control of Pollution Act 1974 to minimise nuisance from noise and vibration, all to the satisfaction of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority.

- 15. That the welfare facilities (toilets) provided on site shall be connected to the public mains sewerage system; otherwise prior to the commencement of the development the applicants shall submit for the written approval of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority proposals to demonstrate how foul sewerage from the development can be disposed of without causing nuisance.
- 16. That all mitigation measures detailed in Volume 1 of the Environmental Statement shall be implemented in accordance with the details described therein, to the satisfaction of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority.
- 17. That, prior to the commencement of the development, the applicants shall agree a Detailed Emergency Response Plan with North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority in consultation with the Nuclear Site Licensees, Emergency Planning Consultative Committee and the Ayrshire Civil Contingencies Team which shall include details of all emergency planning requirements for the site during construction and operational phases and options for consultation meetings if required. The Detailed Emergency Response Plan shall also provide details of plant location, heights and sizes, alerting and notification arrangements, muster points, shelter areas, emergency evacuation routes, arrangements with emergency services and emergency contact numbers etc., all to the satisfaction of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority.
- 18. That, prior to the commencement of the use of the turbines and meteorological masts, they shall be fitted with 25 candela omni-directional red lighting or infra-red lighting with an optimised flash pattern of 60 flashes per minute of 200ms to 500ms duration at the highest practicable point, to the satisfaction of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority.
- 19. That, unless otherwise agreed in writing with North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority, all phases of construction shall take place out-with October to February inclusive.
- 20. That, prior to the commencement of the development, the applicant shall submit a report to demonstrate any effects that turbulence might have on dust and to mitigate any adverse effects, for the written approval of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority. Thereafter any such mitigation measures shall be implemented, prior to the operation of the wind turbines, all to the satisfaction of North Ayrshire Council as Planning Authority.

6. Enforcement Notice: West Kilbride: 10 Avondale Road

Submitted report by the Corporate Director (Development and Environment) on an Enforcement Notice under the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 requiring cessation of an unauthorised business use at 10 Avondale Road, West Kilbride.

The Council first received complaints regarding the business use of the property in June 2013. Site inspections and meetings with the occupiers of the property were carried out. The occupiers of the property confirmed that a landscaping business operated from the property. The business use was described by the occupiers as seasonal, with little, if any, activity in the winter and spring seasons.

Officers have sought to resolve the breach of Planning control through negotiation, with the occupiers encouraged to contact both Economic Development and Estates to seek assistance from the Council with respect to relocating the business use. However, the occupiers have confirmed to Economic Development that they believe relocating would be detrimental to the business.

The report noted that the operation of the business use at the property is having an adverse impact on the amenity and character of the residential area and recommended the serving of Enforcement Note to require its cessation.

The Committee agreed, in the interest of the amenity and character of the residential area, to approve the serving of a Notice under Section 127 of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 to secure (i) the cessation of the landscaping business use at 10 Avondale Road, West Kilbride, and (ii) the removal from the site of all vehicles, machinery, equipment and other items associated solely with the business use.

7. Ardrossan North Shore Design Principles

Submitted report by the Corporate Director (Development and Environment) on design principles to guide the future development of the Ardrossan North Shore site.

It is recognised that the coastal frontage of the Ardrossan North Shore site is particularly sensitive and, therefore, that a design solution sympathetic to the coastal nature of the site should be provided which is in accordance with the Council's approved Coastal Design Guidance. Furthermore, the development of this large scale site will be undertaken in phases, over an extended period of time, and likely with multiple developers with different house type products. For these reasons, a set of 'design principles', set out at Appendix 1 to the report, has been drafted to guide developers in working up detailed proposals for future phases of development given the unique and sensitive nature of this site.

The design principles provide a clear statement of intent by the Council in terms of the design expectations for development of the Ardrossan North Shore site, to enable both quality and consistency of design as the site is built out. They will also provide a degree of certainty to future developers in working up their proposals. The design principles would be a non-statutory material consideration to be used in the determination of planning applications within the Ardrossan North Shore site.

The Committee agreed to approve the design principles contained within Appendix 1 to the report.

The meeting ended at 2.50 p.m.